SEP 06 2013

CAROL G. GREEN
CLERK OF APPELLATE COURTS

No. 12-108301-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS, Plaintiff - Appellee

VS.

STEPHEN ALAN MACOMBER, Defendant – Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the District Court of Shawnee County Honorable David B. Debenham District Court Case No. 10-CR-1053

Joseph A. Desch, #18289
LAW OFFICE OF JOSEPH A. DESCH
201 SW Greenwood Avenue
Topeka, KS 66606-1227
Phone (785) 232-7003
Fax (866) 540-3224
Email <a href="mailto:lawofficeofjosephadesch@cox.netjoedesch@cox.netjoedesch@cox.netjoedesch@cox.netjoedesch@cox.netjoedesch@cox.nethgoed

No. 12-108301-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a criminal matter in which the defendant was charged in the District Court of Shawnee County with murder in the first degree and criminal possession of a firearm. Following a seven day jury trial in which the defendant was allowed to represent himself with stand by counsel, the defendant was convicted of murder in the second degree and possession of a firearm. Thereafter on February 21, 2012 the defendant was sentenced to a term of 653 months for the second degree murder conviction and to a term of 8 months for the criminal possession of a firearm. The sentences were ordered to run consecutively. The defendant filed his notice of appeal on March 1, 2012.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. THE DEFENDANT'S PROSECUTION FOR CRIMINAL POSSESSION OF A FIREARM IN SHAWNEE COUNTY VIOLATES THE DOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAUSE OF THE FIFTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND SECTION 10 OF THE KANSAS CONSTITUTION BILL OF RIGHTS, AND SUBSTANTIALLY PREJUDICED THE DEFENDANT IN THE TRIAL OF THE MURDER CHARGE.
- II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT ALLOWED THE CORONER, DR. POJMAN, TO TESTIFY REGARDING HIS OPINION AS TO THE MANNER OF DEATH.
- III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO BIND THE STATE TO PRETRIAL ORDERS AND EXPLICIT STIPULATIONS CONCERNING PRIOR BAD ACTS OR BAD CONDUCT.
- IV. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF MR. MACOMBER'S SHOOTING OF A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER IN MARSHALL COUNTY.
- V. THE DISTRICT COURT COMMITTED EVIDENTIARY ERRORS REGARDING IMPEACHMENT OF THE STATE'S WITNESSES, PRIOR CRIMINAL ACTIVITY AT THE CRIME SCENE AND SURROUNDING LOCALE, AND PRIOR ACTIVITIES OF THE VICTIM, ALL OF WHICH DENIED THE DEFENDANT A FAIR TRIAL.
- VI. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN THE UNEVEN APPLICATION OF THE HEARSAY RULE.
- VII. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY.
- VIII. THE STATE'S PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT DENIED THE DEFENDANT A FAIR TRIAL.
- IX. CUMULATIVE TRIAL ERRORS WERE SUBSTANTIALLY PREJUDICIAL, AND DENIED THE DEFENDANT A FAIR TRIAL.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the afternoon of June 7, 2010, Ryan K. Lofton was shot and killed in the driveway of his residence at 2741 S.E. Iowa, Topeka, KS. The following individuals were in the driveway at the time of the shooting: Risa Lofton, wife of victim; Stephen A. Macomber, defendant; Joshua Kenolly, friend of the victim (R. Vol. XXVI, 962); and Cassandra Skirvin, friend/girlfriend of victim. (R. Vol. XXIII, 105) Inside the residence during this period were: Matthew Guerrero, friend of victim (R. Vol. XXIII, 98); and Nancy Llamas, the victim's roommate. (R. Vol. XXIII, 115)

Prior to the incident, Ryan and Risa Lofton had been arguing (R. Vol. XXIII, 100, 176, R. Vol. XXIV, 544) and Risa called the defendant and requested Macomber come get her. (R. Vol. XXIII, 177, 224-28, R. Vol. XXVI, 984-85) Ryan was upset that she was leaving with Macomber (R. Vol. XXVI, 969) Shortly after Macomber pulled into the driveway Risa placed several bags in the driver's side back seat area of the vehicle (R. Vol. XXIII, 109, 120, 178) then got in the car on the passenger side front seat. (R. Vol. XXIII, 182) Ryan Lofton then went to the driver's side door of Macomber's vehicle and began arguing with Macomber. During this argument it appeared to several witnesses that Ryan Lofton and Risa Lofton engaged in a physical struggle with Macomber and that during the struggle a gunshot was heard. (R. Vol. XXIII 110-13, 121-27)

Later that same day, June 7, 2010, Macomber was pulled over by Marshall County Sheriff's Deputy Fernando Salcedo in Blue Rapids, KS. Macomber was arrested the next morning, June 8, 2010 after a shootout with the Deputy and a standoff with police at the residence of Hedy Saville. (R. Vol. XXVI, 991) Subsequently, Macomber was charged and convicted of multiple offenses in Marshall County Case No. 10 CR 59

(Appellate Case no. 107205: and in Marshall County Case No. 10 CR 60 (Appellate Case no. 107206). In part, as a result of those cases, Macomber was convicted in each case for criminal possession of a firearm, K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-4202, one in each case for the same firearm which is at issue in the present case. (R. Vol. XIX 35, R. Vol. XXIV, 360)

In Shawnee County a criminal complaint was filed in the present case, on June 9, 2010 charging the defendant with count 1, off-grid, premeditated and intentional first degree murder and count 2, criminal possession of a firearm. (R. Vol. I, 31)

Prior to trial in this matter, the defendant's motion in limine to prohibit evidence at trial of prior bad acts was granted. (R. Vol. II, 121-23) Several pretrial hearings were conducted with orders entered (R. Vol. II, 105-6) held on September 24, 2010; R. Vol. II, 160-61) held on June 3, 2011; (R. Vol. III, 187-88) held on February 18, 2011 and filed late on August 5, 2011; R. Vol. III, 226-27) held on September 7, 2011, and which notes the State's plea offer of a guilty plea to felony murder which confirmed that the State was not seeking to introduce statements regarding crimes that occurred in Marshall County. (R. Vol. XVII, 37) During the initial motion hearing, held October 6, 2010 the State stipulated immediately to the defense motion in limine (R. Vol. 1, 71-74) regarding prior bad acts, (R. Vol. XII, 20-21). Later in the same hearing, addressing another motion in limine (R. Vol. 1, 75-78), the State, specifically Jacqie Spradling, stipulated and agreed: not to mischaracterize the evidence; not to advance arguments or cite facts not supported by some evidence; not to make improper attacks on defense counsel or defense techniques; not to appeal to racial or other prejudices; not to draw negative inferences to the defendant's exercise of a constitutional right, including the right to remain silent; not to inflame the passions or prejudices of the jury, with the agreement to a specific

paragraph of the motion in limine citing several caselaw examples, such as referring to what the victim was thinking, and creating an "imaginary script"; and lastly, not to comment or elicit comment from witnesses on the credibility of any witness, including the defendant. (R. Vol. 12, 22-26) As noted above, these stipulations were journalized as orders of the Court. (R. Vol. II, 121-23)

At a motion hearing held on September 23, 2011 the state acknowledged that it understood that the defense is an accidental discharge. (R. Vol. XIX, 14) The defendant filed a Motion to Dismiss Count 2 (R. Vol. III, 236-44) that this criminal possession charge was a double jeopardy violation because of his previous convictions in Marshall County for the same offense. The motion also claimed that the pretrial order should prevent the State from introducing evidence of prior crimes. The Court denied this motion. (R. Vol. V, 408-16)

On October 14, 2011 Mr. Macomber, as pro se counsel, filed a motion for the State to be required to instruct its witnesses not to mention prior bad acts or convictions, citing prior actions by the State's counsel Jacqie Spradling (Spradling) in the Marshall county cases. (R. Vol. V, 367-68). The Court ruled on this motion, granting the request, but with the reservation that, "...the State is not limited in its proof of the defendant's felony status or release date from imprisonment as these are necessary elements in Count 2." (R. Vol. VI, 478) On appeal of **both** Marshall County cases, Spradling was found to have made improper statements to the jury. (State v. Macomber, unpublished opinion dated July 5, 2013, Kansas Court of Appeals Docket #107, 205, 2013 Kan. App. Unpub. LEXIS 594, at pages 20, (asking jury to "send a message" to the victim); page 21, (misstating the evidence)) (State v. Macomber, unpublished opinion dated July 5, 2013,

Kansas Court of Appeals docket #107, 206, 2013 Kan. App. Unpub. LEXIS 590, at page 20, (gross and flagrant misstatement of Kansas Law). In addressing another issue, the Court took note that in the underlying case, Marshall County 10 CR 60, Spradling, when replying to a comment by defense counsel regarding the Shawnee County case, stated, "all of us have been under the idea that these cases are going to be tried separately without reference to the others." (#107, 206, at p.11)(Emphasis added)). In case #107, 206 the Court of Appeals reversed Macomber's conviction for criminal possession of a firearm in the second prosecution on double jeopardy grounds, specifically finding that, "Neither his possession of the pistol nor his criminal history changed between the facts of [Case #107, 205] and the present case. We conclude that Macomber may be convicted of criminal possession of a firearm only once, and since he was convicted twice, we reverse the conviction for criminal possession of a firearm in the present case and vacate that sentence." (#107, 206 at p.11)

At Trial Macomber objected to the admission of Shawnee County Coroner Dr. Donald Pojman's opinion testimony that the manner of Ryan Lofton's death was homicide (R. Vol. XXIII, 282-89, 320) and renewed previous motions (R. Vol. II, 81-83) and (R. Vol. III, 189-92) all of which went to the issues of foundation, lack of personal knowledge, experience and training, insufficient basis, lack of probative value and necessity, caused undue prejudice, ultimate question for the jury and not of technical assistance to the jury but was overruled by the court. (R. Vol. XXIII, 290)

Dr. Pojman stated in his testimony that the manner of Ryan Lofton's death was "homicide" (R. Vol. XXIII, 291); that he formed this opinion on June 8, 2010 (R. Vol. XXIII, 301); that "homicide" means that someone else besides the victim pulled the

trigger; and that he didn't rely on witness statements in arriving at his opinion (R. Vol. XXIII, 312); didn't speak with Zachary Carr –KBI (R. Vol. XXIII, 314); relied on information from the investigator and verbal communication from law enforcement to form this opinion (R. Vol. XXIII, 316); was not informed of any mechanical defect to the firearm (R. Vol. XXIII, 318); didn't hear witnesses testify (R. Vol. XXIII, 319); didn't rely on any defense evidence (R. Vol. XXIII, 321); the wound itself didn't indicate the intent of the shooter, but the gun didn't go off by itself (R. Vol. XXIII, 303-5); there was no stippling observed and the range of fire was undetermined (R. Vol. XXV, 787) the entry wound was at the left side of the shoulder blade and that the bullet bruised the left lung went through the spine and right lung traveling predominately left to (R. Vol. XXIII, 298, 307); that the classification of manner of death are natural, suicide, homicide, accident and undetermined (R. Vol. XXIII, 317); there could be circumstances where an accidental discharge with a person holding a gun could be ruled something other than homicide (R. Vol. XXV, 777-78) it would have been possible that Ryan Lofton have received this wound as a result of reaching in the car, pulling out the firearm and releasing. (R. Vol. XXV, 793)

The defendant requested Dr. Pojman be allowed to hear the witness testimony but the state objected and the court sustained. (R. Vol. XXVI, 882-83)

Cassandra Skirvin testified that Risa had more than one bag with her when going to the defendant's car (R. Vol. XXIII, 120); Risa and Ryan were still arguing and yelling at each other as Risa got into the Defendant's car (R. Vol. XXIII, 109-11); she couldn't hear the conversation and never heard the defendant say anything (R. Vol. XXIII, 111,121-22); she told police that Ryan reached in to get Risa out of the car (R.

Vol. XXIII, 124, R. Vol. XXVI, 891); Ryan was yelling when going to the driver's side (R. Vol. XXIII, 112-13); and she never saw a gun. (R. Vol. XXIII, 127)

Matthew Guerrero testified that Ryan and Risa were fighting when they walked in the door (R. Vol. XXIII, 91, 100); he was not looking out the window before the gunshot. (R. Vol. XXIII, 100)

Risa Lofton testified she was unable to remember any of the conversation (R. Vol. XXIII, 261) but that Ryan did not threaten Macomber (R. Vol. XXIII 191, 250); Steve reached under the seat or somewhere and pulled out a gun that was inside a Crown Royal Bag (R. Vol. XXIII, 179, 190); he never took the bag off the gun (R. Vol. XXIII, 181) but Risa was able to describe it to police as an older style revolver (R. Vol. XXIV, 548); the gun was not hers and she didn't know it was there until he pulled it out (R. Vol. XXVI, 879); that the window was down approximately four inches (R. Vol. XXIII, 180); that she grabbed Steve's arm but had exited the vehicle and shut the door before she heard a pop (R. Vol. XXIII, 183-85, 260-61); and that she didn't see the gun fired or the trigger pulled. (R. Vol. XXIII, 265) During cross examination the Court did not allow Macomber to pursue impeachment of this witness regarding her selective memory, interactions with him and her actions in the days prior to the incident. (R. Vol. XXIII, 195-222, 235-37) The Court did not allow Macomber to elicit testimony from this witness regarding particular violent actions of the victim. Following this, a bench conference ensued where the Prosecution suggested to Macomber that unless he testified first, he could not pursue questioning of other witnesses pertaining to a self-defense theory of the case. The State did not provide precedent for its assertion. (R. Vol. XXIII, 251) The Court eventually sustained the objection regarding the victim's prior violent

acts, but did not rule on the proposition that a defendant alleging self-defense must first testify. (R. Vol. XXIII, 256)

Joshua Kenoly was found to be unavailable at trial and his preliminary examination testimony was read into the record at trial over the State's objection (R. Vol. XXVI,961); Ryan was trying to keep Risa from leaving (R. Vol. XXVI, 963); he never saw a gun (R. Vol. XXVI, 966-67); the defendant's car window was down (R. Vol. XXVI, 970); Ryan was a foot away from the vehicle (R. Vol. XXVI, 966); Ryan and Steve were involved in a "tussle" which he described as, "a little body movement with each other" which was more than an argument but didn't hear the conversation (R. Vol. XXVI, 965, 972); he was away from car when the shot happened (R. Vol. XXVI, 967, 972); and that the incident took place in five seconds. (R. Vol. XXVI, 971)

Stephen Macomber testified Risa placed three bags, including a Crown Royal Bag, behind the driver's seat and that he knew what the Crown Royal Bag was (R. Vol. XXVI, 987); that Risa brought the gun in the bag when she came out of the house (R. Vol. XXVI, 1018); when Risa got into the car Ryan become really upset and was reaching into the car, after an exchange of words Ryan flipped out (R. Vol. XXVI, 987); Ryan threatened to shoot Macomber so Macomber grabbed the gun, Risa began to taunt Ryan who came to the driver's side door and was reaching through the window trying to unlock the door, he cocked the gun and Ryan stated, "what are you going to do, shoot me, mother fucker?" and then grabbed for the gun (R. Vol. XXVI, 988); at some point Risa was grabbing Steve's arm and Ryan got hold of the bag containing the gun and was pulling on it, Macomber wasn't sure if he pulled the trigger or if it hit the door but that

when the gun went off it startled him (R. Vol. XXVI, 989); he left the scene and went straight down I-70 out of Topeka. (R. Vol. XXVI, 991)

David M. Brede, KBI special agent testified that he was the first one to recover the gun depicted in the defense exhibits 15 and 16 and that it was photographed, rendered safe by opening the cylinder to ensure there were no live rounds in it, closed it up and put it in a bag and marked it. (R. Vol. XXV, 610-12)

Zachary Carr, KBI Firearm and Toolmark Examiner, testified to the following: he examined the firearm, which included performing the hammer push-off test on June 21, 2010 then, in the double action mode, test-fired it three times on June 23, 2010 (R. Vol. XXIV, 397, 455, R. Vol. XXV, 739); upon visual inspection the hammer was down when he received it and he saw nothing wrong structurally or mechanically with the firearm (R. Vol. XXIV, 416); he received the weapon in safe and proper working order (R. Vol. XXIV, 400, R. Vol. XXV, 734); he performed a hammer push-off test which places forward pressure on the hammer to determine if it will disengage and fall forward without trigger pull, using the side of his desk, he tested the hammer 5 to 7 times without it pushing off and he then applied excessive force damaging the engagement and as a result the hammer will push-off (R. Vol. XXIV, 404-05, 437-39); couldn't describe how much pressure was excessive (R. Vol. XXV, 759) it was very evident that a piece sheared off (R. Vol. XXIV, 440); he did not follow accepted or approved procedures or method when conducting this test as prescribed by Smith & Wesson Armorer's Manual which provides that this test should be performed with the thumb on the hammer not exceeding 6 lbs. of pressure (R. Vol. XXIV, 439-41, 443, R. Vol. XXV, 764); sometimes the hammer on the weapon at issue stays cocked, and sometimes it falls forward – an

intermittent condition and he never took gun apart to determine the reason for this (R. Vol. XXIV, 451); never visually confirmed which parts were damaged (R. Vol. XXV, 737); it was highly probable any metal chips from the damage would be internal (R. Vol. XXV, 741); one should use extreme caution when handling this firearm (R. Vol. XXV, 735); his report found that firearm to be functional after the defect, if the hammer is cocked or trigger is pulled it will most likely fire or is functional (R. Vol. XXV, 739); he demonstrated that the hammer would hold rearward staying cocked. (R. Vol. XXV, 761)

KBI senior special agent **Steve Bundy** testified regarding incidents which occurred in Marshall County, for the most part statements made incident to Mr. Macomber's arrest. Bundy was allowed to testify about hearsay statements in great detail, including those made by Macomber while in custody (R. Vol. XXIV, 469-72, R. Vol. XXVI, 910-19), and those of another witness, Hedy Saville (R. Vol. XXVII, 910-20). On cross examination of Bundy, and on direct in the Defendant's case, the Court sustained an objection by the State, disallowing admission of hearsay statements of the defendant arising out of the same interview with Bundy, ruling in pertinent part, "...on a confession or statement the State has the ability to bring that into evidence through the witness. You cannot bring that same information in unless you've testified first because it's hearsay if you try to bring that in, and that is the objection made by the State, and I'm going to sustain the objection at this point in time." (R. Vol. XXIV, 501-02) Bundy also testified, over numerous objections, regarding Mr. Macomber's previous convictions, prior prison sentence, initial incarceration date, and parole date. (R. Vol. XXIV, 473-79, 487)

John Cayton, firearm expert for the defense, testified to the following: the single action sear mechanism wasn't working properly and he needed to do an internal exam to

determine what caused the problem (R. Vol. XXV, 639, 654); you must take the gun apart to check the safeties (R. Vol. XXV, 695); he was able to determine the weapon was functional (R. Vol. XXV, 641); was given Zachary Carr's bench notes, lab reports and witness accounts of the incident (R. Vol. XXV, 647); when cocked the hammer would sometimes stay back and sometimes fall forward, an intermittent condition (R. Vol. XXV, 653-54, 673); internal examination revealed that the bottom side of the hammer was polished which would cause less trigger pull (R. Vol. XXV, 662-63); the rebound slide spring was cut off and one of the 17 coils had been removed which makes the trigger easier to pull with less pressure (R. Vol. XXV, 665-68); the single action notch of the hammer was in a dangerous altered condition causing the hammer to fall forward if bumped and there was no way to determine when this defect happened (R. Vol. XXV, 668); the notch was missing material and it looks like it broke off (R. Vol. XX, 670-71); he found no metal chips where he would have expected to find them inside the gun and it was possible that this intermittent condition was present and made worse by excessive pressure applied in the push-off test (R. Vol. XXV, 673-74); in its current condition the gun won't fire unless cocked or the trigger is pulled (R. Vol. XXV, 705); this condition along with contributing factors such as a struggle, an arm being grabbed, fear, tension and excitement could have led to an inadvertent or accidental discharge. (R. Vol. XXV, 677-79) Cayton testified he worked as a contractor for the Washington D.C. police laboratory in 2003 and 2004, (R. Vol. XXV, 624) that he returned to provide assistance and training to the United States Army lab in 2008 and 2009, (R. Vol. XXV, 636) that he last testified for the "state" [identifying Washington D.C.] "Last year sometime." (R. Vol. XXV, 702). Cayton testified that "Jacqie" [indicating Spradling] was there at the

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