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

Macomber next argues that the exclusion of Bundy's testimony regarding the exculpatory statements he made during their interview as hearsay was incorrect and

reversible error. The admission or exclusion of hearsay evidence is within the sound discretion of the district court. *See State v. Thomas*, 252 Kan. 564, 572, 847 P. 2d 1219 (1993). The abuse of discretion standard includes review to determine that the discretion was not guided by erroneous legal conclusions. *State v. White*, 279 Kan. 326, 332, 109 P.3d 1119 (2005). Nevertheless, "[w]here constitutional rights directly affecting the ascertainment of guilty are implicated, the hearsay rule may not be applied mechanically to defeat the ends of justice." *State v. Hills*, 264 Kan. 437, 957 P.2d 496 (1998). In some instances, the admission of an incriminating hearsay statement, coupled with the refusal to admit an exculpatory hearsay statement by the same declarant, is so fundamentally unfair as to be an abuse of discretion and a denial of due process. *State v. Brickhouse*, 20 Kan.App.2d 495, 503, 890 P.2d 353 (1995).

Here, Macomber asserts that he was denied a fair trial when the district court did not allow Bundy to testify about certain exculpatory statements he made during their interview. However, in looking at the record, it appears that the exculpatory evidence that Macomber wanted to be admitted was in fact admitted through Bundy.

Macomber takes issue with the district court's determination that Bundy could not testify that Macomber told him during the interview that "he was not exactly sure what all happened in Topeka." But, Bundy testified to other exculpatory statements that were made by Macomber. Bundy stated that Macomber said he "never intended to do shit in Topeka" and that "there's several statements throughout there where you made some statement similar to that, that you didn't intend to kill him on that day while you were in route over there, I believe." (R. XXVI, 911, 914-15.) Bundy further stated that there were several self-serving statements within the interview and the CD recording of

the interview would provide an accurate recording of what was said, word for word. (R. XXVI, 915.) Although Bundy did not state that Macomber told him he was unsure about what happened in Topeka, he was allowed to testify about other exculpatory statements Macomber told him during the interview. Therefore, the State contends that Bundy was allowed to testify as to the exculpatory statements that Macomber said in his interview and was allowed to present statements that supported his theory of defense.

However, even if the district court erred when it excluded the exculpatory statements made to Bundy from Macomber, it was harmless error. Under the harmless error standard of K.S.A. 60-261, the test is whether the error affected a party's substantial rights; in other words, whether the error affected the outcome of the trial. *State v. Ward*, 292 Kan. 541, 565, 256 P.3d 801 (2011), *cert. denied* 132 S.Ct. 1594 (2012). The burden of proof is on the State, since it is the party benefitting from the error in this case.

The exclusion of Bundy's testimony of what Macomber told him was harmless because Macomber actually admitted the CD recording of the interview and played it twice for the jury following the State's rebuttal evidence. (R. XXVII, 1086-87.)

Macomber specifically pointed out for the jury that he stated, "I don't know exactly what happened." (R. XXVII, 1087.) Macomber further stated that this information was not included in Bundy's report. (R. XXVII, 1087.) The evidence that Bundy was not allowed to testify about was presented directly to the jury and was admitted by Macomber. The exclusion of Bundy's hearsay statements did not affect the outcome of the trial because Macomber presented direct evidence of what he told Bundy during the interview. Therefore, even if Macomber's exculpatory statements should have been

allowed as evidence through Bundy, the error was harmless in this case. Additionally, here, Macomber testified on his own behalf. Macomber could have directly testified as to what he told Bundy during the interview. Simply because Macomber chose not to testify about what he told Bundy in the interview does not make it reversible error.

VII. The district court properly instructed the jury.

Macomber argues that the district court erred in its consideration of several jury instructions. The Kansas Supreme Court summarized a four step process for jury instruction issues in *State v. Plummer*, 295 Kan. 156, 283 P.3d 202 (2012). In *Plummer*, this Court stated:

In summary, for instruction issues, the progression of analysis and corresponding standards of review on appeal are: (1) First, the appellate court should consider the reviewability of the issue from both jurisdiction and preservation viewpoints, exercising an unlimited standard of review; (2) next, the court should use an unlimited review to determine whether the instruction was legally appropriate; (3) then, the court should determine whether there was sufficient evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to the defendant or the requesting party, that would have supported the instruction; and (4) finally, if the district court erred, the appellate court must determine whether the error was harmless, utilizing the test and degree of certainty set forth in *Ward*.

Macomber first argues that Instruction 8, based off of PIK Crim.3d. 52.06, should not have been given because no limiting instruction could cure the prejudice he faced by the introduction of the rebuttal evidence and that the instruction could have misled the jury. At the jury instruction conference, Macomber did initially object to this instruction, on different grounds. (R. XXVII, 1105.)

However, Macomber later withdrew that objection. (R. XXVII, 1107.) Because Macomber withdrew his objection, this court must determine, first, whether the instruction was error and only if it is, whether it qualifies for the label "clearly erroneous." K.S.A. 22-3414(3). An instruction is clearly erroneous only if this court is

"firmly convinced that the jury would have reached a different verdict had the instruction error not occurred." *State v. Williams*, 295 Kan. 506, Syl. ¶ 5, 286 P.3d 195 (2012); *see State v. Washington*, 293 Kan. 732, 740-41, 268 P.3d 475 (2012).

Instruction 8 was not clearly erroneous. The instruction was consistent with Kansas law. It informed the jury that the evidence of Macomber's prior conviction and commission of a crime in Marshall County were to be considered for specific and limited purposes. Although the instruction did not track the language of the pattern instruction verbatim, it was factually and legally appropriate in light of the entire record. *See State v. Williams*, 295 Kan. 506, Syl. ¶ 4, 286 P.3d 195 (2012). Macomber is entitled to no relief on this claim of error.

Macomber next argues that Instruction 12, the inference of intent instruction, PIK Crim.3d. 54.01, was improperly given by the district court over his objection because it was inconsistent with several other jury instructions and invaded the province of the jury by allowing impermissible inference stacking. (R. XXVII, 1109.)

The comment section of the PIK on the inference of intent instruction notes that the instruction is designed to "make it crystal clear that the 'presumption' is only a permissive inference, leaving the trier of fact to consider it or reject it." PIK Crim.3d 54.01 Comment. That one is presumed to intend all the natural consequences of his acts is a well established rule in Kansas. *State v. Warbritton*, 211 Kan. 506, 506 P.2d 1152 (1973); *State v. Gander*, 220 Kan. 88, 551 P.2d 797 (1976). Furthermore, intent, like any element of a crime, may be shown by circumstantial evidence. *State v. Townsend*, 201 Kan. 122, 439 P.2d 70 (1968).

Our Supreme Court has consistently upheld the challenged instruction, and in *State v. Lassley*, 218 Kan. 752, 545 P.2d 379 (1976), the Court contrasted presumptions with inferences and explained that an instruction allowing the jury to infer intent "is consistent with the requirement that the prosecution prove the criminal intent. Intent is difficult, if not impossible, to show by definite and substantive proof. Thus, it is agreed that criminal intent may be shown by proof of the acts and conduct of the accused and inferences reasonably drawn therefrom." 218 Kan. at 762-63; *see State v. Woods*, 222 Kan. 179, 185, 563 P.2d 1061 (1977) (reaffirming *Lassley*).

Also, in *State v. Harkness*, 252 Kan. 510, 525-27, 847 P.2d 1191 (1993), the Court explained that an instruction containing a permissive inference does not relieve the State of its burden because it still requires the State to convince the jury that an element, such as intent, should be inferred on the facts proved. *See State v. Martinez*, 288 Kan. 443, 452, 204 P.3d 601 (2009).

Jury Instruction 12 did not mislead or invade the province of the jury by allowing impermissible inference stacking in this case. The presumption that a person intends all the natural and probable consequences of his voluntary acts is rebuttable, and may be overcome by evidence to the contrary. *State v. Warbritton*, 211 Kan. 506, 506 P.2d 1152 (1973). The jury was able to either accept or reject this inference based on the evidence and facts that were presented.

Additionally, Instruction 12 did not lessen the State's burden to prove that Macomber intended to shoot Lofton or establish that premeditation was presumed. *See State v. Ellmaker*, 289 Kan. 1132, 221 P.3d 1105 (2009). And, when the jury instructions are read as a whole, they properly instruct the jury that the intent to kill and

premeditation are separate elements that both must be met in order to convict Macomber of first degree murder.

Instruction 13 stated the elements of first degree murder, which indicated that the first element was that Macomber intentionally killed Lofton and that the second element was that the killing was done with premeditation. (R. XXVII, 1170.) Instruction 16 provided the definition of premeditation and reiterated that premeditation was a separate element from the intentional killing. (R. XXVII, 1172.) Instruction 7 informed the jury of the State's burden to prove every element. (R. XXVII, 1168.) Instruction 12 was consistent with these instructions and did not alter the State's burden of proof as to each element, including the intentional killing.

Moreover, the jury did not convict Macomber of premeditated first degree murder; thus, the instruction could not have presumed premeditation. Because the jury did not find Macomber guilty of first degree murder, it necessarily found that the State did not prove the element of premeditation. Therefore, Macomber's argument that Instruction 12 presumed premeditation must fail.

Macomber also briefly mentions that Instruction 12 was inconsistent with his requested special Instruction 18, which should have been submitted to the jury.

Macomber simply makes a conclusory argument as to this issue and fails to show why the instruction should have been given and why the district court was incorrect in failing to give this special instruction. Therefore, this court should not address this claim. *See State v. McCaslin*, 291 Kan. 697, 709, 245 P.3d 1030 (2011) (an issue not briefed by the appellant is deemed waived and abandoned).

Also in passing, Macomber argues that Instruction 12 was inconsistent with Instruction 10 and the district court erred in giving the outdated version of Instruction 10. Macomber requested a modified version of this instruction, which included all of the language that was given in the instruction. (R. VI, 491.) Also, Macomber did not object to Instruction 10 during the instructions conference. (R. XXVII, 1108.) Macomber cannot now claim error on appeal to an instruction he requested and did not object to during the instructions conference. *State v. Bailey*, 292 Kan. 449, 459, 255 P.3d 19 (2011).

Lastly, Macomber argues the district court should not have instructed the jury on the lesser included offense of intentional second degree murder. Macomber argues that intentional second degree murder is not a lesser included offense of first degree murder, as it carries a more stringent penalty than the crime of first degree murder. Notably, Macomber does not argue that the intentional second degree murder instruction was not factually appropriate or unsupported by the evidence in this case.

It is well established that intentional second degree murder is a lesser included offense of first degree premeditated murder because all the elements of second-degree murder are included within first degree murder. K.S.A. 21-3107(2)(b); *See State v. Armstrong*, 240 Kan. 446, 459, 731 P.2d 249, *cert. denied* 482 U.S. 929, 107 S.Ct. 3215, 96 L.Ed.2d 702 (1987); *State v. Pierce*, 260 Kan. 859, 864, 927 P.2d 929 (1996); *State v. Amos*, 271 Kan. 565, 23 P.3d 883 (2001).

Furthermore, given the evidence presented, the lesser included instruction of intentional second degree murder was legally and factually appropriate. The evidence established that the jury could have found that Macomber shot Lofton intentionally, but

without premeditation. Therefore, the district court did not err in instructing the jury on intentional second degree murder.

Macomber also claims that the district court erred when it did not give his requested Instructions 17 and 18. (R. XXVII, 1144-49.) The district court properly denied Instruction 17 on the basis that it was not appropriate under the facts of the case and that the PIK instructions adequately defined the elements of the charges and defenses in the case. (R. XXVII, 1147.) Instruction 18 was also properly denied. The district court denied this instruction because Instructions 7 and 12 defined the State's burden. (R. XXVII, 1149.) Macomber also argues his special instruction regarding the nature and degree of criminal possession of a firearm. (R. VII, 577.) However, the State is unable to find where during the jury instructions conference Macomber actually requested this instruction. The document appears to be filed after the conclusion of the trial. Thus, it appears from the record that this instruction was never requested at trial.

The district court properly instructed the jury, and the instructions given were legally and factually appropriate in this case. Therefore, this court should find no reversible error in the jury instructions that were provided to the jury.

VIII. The prosecutor's comments were not improper and did not constitute misconduct.

Macomber argues that the prosecutor committed numerous instances of misconduct that denied him a fair trial. The State contends that the prosecutor committed no misconduct in this case, and to the extent that there was any misconduct, it was harmless error.

Review of alleged prosecutorial misconduct involves a two-step process. An appellate court first determines whether the comments were outside the wide latitude

that a prosecutor is allowed in discussing the evidence. If the comments are found to be improper and therefore misconduct, the court next determines whether the comments prejudiced the jury against the defendant and denied the defendant a fair trial. *State v. Marshall*, 294 Kan. 850, 856, 281 P.3d 1112 (2012). In this step of the process, this court considers three factors: First, was the conduct gross and flagrant? Second, was the misconduct motivated by ill will? Third, was the evidence of such a direct and overwhelming nature that the misconduct would likely have had little weight in the mind of a juror? None of these three factors is individually controlling. 294 Kan. at 857.

In assessing this third factor, this court requires that any prosecutorial misconduct error meet the "dual standard" of both constitutional harmlessness and statutory harmlessness to uphold a conviction. *See State v. Tosh*, 278 Kan. 83, 97, 91 P.3d 1204 (2004) (before third factor can override first two factors, an appellate court must be able to say that the harmlessness tests of both K.S.A. 60-261 and *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705, *reh. denied*, 386 U.S. 987 (1967), have been met.) Under both standards, the party benefitting from the error, here, the State, bears the burden of demonstrating harmlessness. *State v. Bridges*, 297 Kan. 989, 306 P.3d 244 (2013). That burden is more rigorous when the error is of constitutional magnitude. *See State v. Herbel*, 296 Kan. 1101, 1110, 299 P.3d 929 (2013). In other words, if the State has met the higher *Chapman* constitutional harmless error standard it necessarily has met the lower standard under K.S.A. 60-261. Under the *Chapman* harmless error standard:

The error may be declared harmless where the party benefitting from the error proves beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of will not or did not affect the outcome of the trial in light of the entire record, *i.e.*, where there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to

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